





Afghanistan's Qoshtepa Canal and Water Security in Central Asia

Andrew C. Kuchins Elvira Aidarkhanova Najibullah Sadid Zekria Barakzai November 2024

Afghanistan's Qoshtepa Canal and Water Security in Central Asia

Andrew C. Kuchins Elvira Aidarkhanova Najibullah Sadid Zekria Barakzai

© Copyright 2024. Center for the National Interest. All Rights Reserved.

ISBN: 979-8-9919589-0-5

Edited by Anne Himmelfarb Cover design and layout by Gabriella Turrisi Cover photo by Nawidullah Hussaini, Afghanistan Photographers Home (APH)

Cover photo: A bridge across an early portion of the Qoshtepa Canal in the Kaldar District of Balkh (Mazar Sharif) Province, 2024.

Center for the National Interest 1025 Connecticut Ave, NW, Suite 1200, Washington, D.C. 20036 Phone: (202) 887-1000 E-mail: info@cftni.org www.cftni.org

The authors are very grateful for very helpful review comments from Marsha McGraw Olive and Paul Saunders on earlier drafts of the report. The report reflects solely the views of its authors.

The Center for the National Interest is a nonpartisan public policy institution established by former President Richard Nixon in 1994. Its current programs focus on American defense and national security, energy and climate security, regional security in the Middle East, and U.S. relations with China, Japan, Europe, and Russia. The Center also publishes the bimonthly foreign affairs magazine The National Interest. The Center is supported by foundation, corporate and individual donors, as well as by an endowment.



Contents

| Acronyms | 4 |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| Foreword | 5 |
| Executive Summary | 6 |
| Introduction | 8 |
| The Geographical Context of the Qoshtepa Canal | 11 |
| The National and Regional Significance of the Qoshtepa Canal | 14 |
| Geopolitics, the Plans for the Qoshtepa Canal, and Soviet-Afghan Relations During the Cold War | 16 |
| In the Footsteps of the Soviet-Era Irrigation Projects in Central Asia | 20 |
| The Return of the Qoshtepa Canal to Afghanistan's Development Agenda | 23 |
| Legal and Technical Perspectives on the Qoshtepa Canal | 28 |
| Conclusions and Recommendations | 31 |
| About the Authors | 35 |
| References | 36 |

Acronyms

| AACS | Adroit Associates Consulting Services |
|--------|----------------------------------------------------|
| bcm | billion cubic meters |
| CABAR | Central Asian Bureau for Analytical Reporting |
| FAO | Food and Agriculture Organization |
| GDP | Gross domestic product |
| ICWC | Interstate Commission for Water Coordination |
| ISAF | International Security Assistance Force |
| mcm | million cubic meters |
| NDC | National Development Corporation |
| PBC | Public Benefit Corporation |
| RFE/RL | Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty |
| UNECE | United Nations Economic Commission for Europe |
| UNEP | United Nations Environment Programme |
| USAID | United States Agency for International Development |
| USSR | Union of Soviet Socialist Republics |

Foreword

Notwithstanding America's disastrous withdrawal from Afghanistan following a long, costly, and largely unsuccessful intervention there, the United States continues to have national interests at stake in the country. Those interests require continued attention, argue Center for the National Interest Senior Fellow Andrew Kuchins and his coauthors, and possibly even limited forms of engagement with Afghanistan's Taliban, who rule in Kabul following America's abandonment of its two-decade effort to remake Afghan politics, economics, and society. Intense geopolitical competition across Central Asia raises the potential costs should the United States wholly turn from Afghanistan and its neighborhood.

In this context, Afghanistan's massive Qoshtepa Canal project poses both challenges and opportunities. To stimulate agricultural production and economic development in northern Afghanistan—and to leave their literal mark on it, with an irrigation system visible from space—the Taliban authorities are pursuing a decades-dormant dream in excavating the extensive canal network. Yet they are doing so in a manner that might both fuel conflict with states downstream along the strained Amu Darya River and contribute to further environmental degradation across a region already scarred by the Soviet Union's highly destructive irrigation mega-projects.

Kuchins et al. thus assert that U.S. effort to facilitate technical assistance to the Qoshtepa Canal project, and to encourage regional diplomacy, could provide an opportunity for the incoming Trump administration to strengthen America's influence in Central Asia, to reduce the risks of destabilizing conflict, and to mitigate the impacts of a poorly constructed canal, including excessive water loss and soil salinization. Their report provides a valuable and timely assessment of the Qoshtepa Canal project and presents significant recommendations for U.S. policy.

Paul J. Saunders President, Center for the National Interest

Executive Summary

The Qoshtepa Canal, currently under construction in Afghanistan on the Amu Darya River, will dramatically affect the availability of water for irrigation and drinking in one of the world's most water-scarce regions—Central Asia. In addition to their already existing water challenges, the Amu Darya River basin and Central Asia are experiencing a far more rapid rate of climate change than the global average. The interim authorities of Afghanistan face major financial, technical, and diplomatic challenges to complete the canal in an efficient, sustainable, and peaceful manner.

The region cannot afford for this canal to be as poorly designed and constructed as Soviet canals on the Amu Darya, which decades after their construction continue to impinge on regional water security. The Soviet historical legacy also excludes Afghanistan from essential water-sharing agreements. It is urgent that Washington and multilateral development institutions engage with Afghanistan and its neighbors to view the Qoshtepa Canal in the broader geographical and historical context of the Amu Darya River basin and take action on this basis. This will require US leadership to adjust its current approach of isolating Afghanistan. Despite the attendant challenges, the canal project represents an extraordinary opportunity for Washington to contribute to a positive legacy of regional development and peaceful cooperation. U.S. engagement would also offer Washington greater influence in a region dominated by Russia and China.

The canal is by far the largest development project undertaken in the history of Afghanistan, and it is intended to demonstrate—to Afghanistan and the world—the interim authorities' ability to manage a large infrastructure project that will reduce poverty, increase arable agricultural land, and enhance food security. The planned canal is 287 km long and 8.5 m deep with an average width of 100 m, and it is expected to open more than 1.2 million acres of farmland and create about 200,000 new jobs. Construction of the main canal, involving up to 5,000 workers and 4,000 earth movers and trucks, is progressing rapidly and has entered its second phase. Most reports speak of a six-year timetable for canal creation, but the overall project, including all the branch, secondary, tertiary, and distributive canals and water regulatory/distributary structures required for actual irrigation, will take significantly longer to fully complete.

In many ways, the Qoshtepa Canal represents for Afghanistan's de facto authorities a bold new vision for a peaceful, verdant, prosperous, and self-sufficient country. Of course, the Taliban were not the first to explore this project, but they have enthusiastically embraced it. The canal represents part of the Taliban's political effort to build support from the population. However, given the current isolation of the interim authorities of Afghanistan, it is extremely unlikely that the canal will be constructed in a reasonably sustainable fashion, or that conflict between Afghanistan and its downstream neighbors—Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan—will be satisfactorily resolved, without such assistance.

Recommendations

- The United States should use the opportunity of this critical project to engage the interim authorities of Afghanistan. This is essential to ensure construction of a well-engineered canal that maximizes efficient water use in Afghanistan. If the United States supports the project in principle, or at least does not seek to block it, there is a higher likelihood that the multilateral development banks—like the World Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, and the Asian Development Bank—will support the project financially, technically, and diplomatically.
- 2. The United States should work with multilateral development institutions to ensure that they or other responsible actors provide the interim authorities of Afghanistan technical assistance, including consultancy services, not only for the construction of the canal itself but also for construction of the much broader irrigation system that it will support. Afghanistan lacks enough technically trained personnel to handle the complex construction of the canal and establish a modern national water management system. A core problem is the lack of highly trained hydraulic engineers, many of whom have left Afghanistan since the Taliban takeover. Some critical ministries and government agencies that in other countries might be headed by technocrats are in Afghanistan headed by mullahs.
- 3. The United States should convene its allies and partners to support diplomacy around regional water-sharing including Afghanistan. Minimally, the parties to such an agreement should include Afghanistan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan. There are numerous such transboundary agreements adjudicating water sharing in many river basins around the world, and their experience can help frame this new agreement.
- 4. Washington should also work with its allies, partners, and multilateral institutions to provide downstream states, specifically Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan, with additional investment and technical assistance to improve their own irrigation systems using Amu Darya waters. International assistance is now supporting their transition to move away from raising mostly very water-intensive crops, but far more resources and effort are required. This assistance must also address regional water pricing that is critical to promote less water use per capita. The promise of significantly increased financial and technical support also provides incentives for Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan to reach a water-sharing agreement with Afghanistan.

While the incoming Trump administration faces many foreign policy and national security challenges across multiple regions, a failure to engage in Afghanistan and Central Asia on water security increases the likelihood of regional instability, conflict, governance failures, and global terrorist groups using the territory to undermine broader U.S. interests. Given the rapid acceleration of glaciers melting across Central Asia, this may be the last chance to prevent ongoing environmental, economic, social, and regional security challenges from reaching genuinely catastrophic proportions.

These recommendations constitute a piece of a broader regional development strategy with global implications. Afghanistan and its Central Asian neighbors border three of Washington's most challenging global actors: China, Russia, and Iran. There is no question that Central Asian states seek broader and more diversified U.S. engagement in the region to hedge against the overweening influence of Beijing, Moscow, and Tehran. Supporting the construction of the Qoshtepa Canal, a regional water-sharing agreement, and more sustainable water-use practices should be an integral piece of Washington's strategy to contain increased influence of China, Russia, and Iran with Afghanistan and its Central Asian neighbors.

Introduction

The Qoshtepa Canal, currently under construction in Afghanistan on the Amu Darya River, will dramatically affect the availability of water for irrigation and drinking in one of the world's most water-scarce regions—Central Asia. In addition to their already existing water challenges, the Amu Darya River basin and Central Asia are experiencing a far more rapid rate of climate change than the global average. The interim authorities of Afghanistan face major financial, technical, and diplomatic challenges to complete the canal in an efficient, sustainable, and peaceful manner.

The region cannot afford for this canal to be as poorly designed and constructed as Soviet canals on the Amu Darya, which decades after their construction continue to impinge on regional water security. The Soviet historical legacy also excludes Afghanistan from essential water-sharing agreements. It is urgent that Washington and multilateral development institutions engage with Afghanistan and its neighbors to view the Qoshtepa Canal in the broader geographical and historical context of the Amu Darya River basin and take action on this basis. This will require US leadership to adjust its current approach of isolating Afghanistan. Despite the attendant challenges, the canal project represents an extraordinary opportunity for Washington to contribute to a positive legacy of regional development and peaceful cooperation.

Six months after regaining control of Afghanistan, in March 2022, the interim authorities of Afghanistan reinitiated the Qoshtepa Canal project on the Amu Darya River, also known as the "Nile of Central Asia." Initial plans for the canal date back to the 1970s, and it was to be built with Soviet assistance. This did not happen. In 2018, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) commissioned a feasibility study for the project, and the Ghani government built the first 7 km of the canal before being thrown out of power in August 2021 by the Taliban, a group now referred to in official parlance as the "interim authorities of Afghanistan."

The canal is by far the largest development project undertaken in the history of Afghanistan, and it is intended to demonstrate—to Afghanistan and the world—the interim authorities' ability to manage a large infrastructure project that will reduce poverty, increase arable agricultural land, and enhance food security. The planned canal is 287 km long and 8.5 m deep with an average width of 100 m,¹ and it is expected to open more than 1.2 million acres of farmland and create about 200,000 new jobs. Construction of the main canal, involving up to 5,000 workers and 4,000 earth movers and trucks, is progressing rapidly and has entered its second phase. Most reports speak of a six-year timetable for canal creation, but the overall project, including all the branch, secondary, tertiary, and distributive canals and water regulatory/distributary structures required for actual irrigation, will take significantly longer to fully complete.

In many ways, the Qoshtepa Canal represents for Afghanistan's de facto authorities a bold new vision for a peaceful, verdant, prosperous, and self-sufficient country. Of course, the Taliban were not the first to explore this project, but they have enthusiastically embraced it. The canal represents part of

¹ The canal's width starts at 152 m and gradually decreases to 64 m at the end. Thus, the average width can be said to be 100 m.

the Taliban's political effort to build support from the population. They have launched a major public relations campaign about the canal, which is encapsulated in a 27-minute video produced in early 2024 after the first phase of the project concluded (TOLOnews 2024). The background of the video shows dozens of excavators and trucks, just a fraction of the 3,500 such earth-moving vehicles engaged in the project, digging and moving dirt in fast motion (Figure 1-2), seemingly to demonstrate that this is a vast and modern infrastructure project for the benefit of the entire country. Breathtaking shots emphasize the majestic vastness of the canal and its transformation of the landscape.

Figure 1. Deserted areas in the north of Afghanistan at the very beginning of Qoshtepa Canal construction.



Source: TOLOnews 2024 (2:49).

Figure 2. Deserted areas in the north of Afghanistan at the very beginning of Qoshtepa Canal construction.



Source: TOLOnews 2024 (4:52).

In a location devoid of any body of water, the Taliban has branded the canal effort as a multi-ethnic workforce pulling together to contribute to the development of a new Afghanistan. Taliban chief spokesman Zabihullah Mujahid summarized the significance of the canal in an interview with Nikkei Asia in December 2023:

"The construction of the Qoshtepa Canal is taking place at a time when Afghanistan is facing numerous economic challenges as the country wakes up from four decades of war, with unemployment rates at their peak... In such times, this project represents a great source of hope for all our countrymen (Nasar 2023)."

This report looks at the Qoshtepa Canal in depth and from multiple perspectives—historical, geopolitical, technical, environmental, and legal—and makes the case that the United States and multilateral institutions must engage with the project to ensure its success. Section 2 of the report describes the canal project's geographical context. Section 3 looks at its national and regional context and notes some of its risks (for the region) and potential benefits (for Afghanistan). Section 4, on geopolitics and water security, suggests how Afghanistan's relations with the Soviet Union—in particular the Soviet-backed coup that ousted Mohammad Daoud—influenced the fortunes of the canal. Section 5 provides detail on earlier canal projects in the region undertaken by the Soviet Union; these have had

detrimental environmental impacts and offer a kind of "how-not-to" guide for Qoshtepa Canal construction. The return of the canal to Afghanistan's development agenda after a decades-long hiatus is discussed in Section 6, while Section 7 looks at legal issues, including water-sharing agreements with downstream neighbors, and technical questions, including risks of salinization and sedimentation. The report concludes with recommendations for financial, technical, and diplomatic assistance from the United States and multilateral development institutions. Given the current isolation of the interim authorities of Afghanistan, it is extremely unlikely that the canal will be constructed in a reasonably sustainable fashion, or that conflict between Afghanistan and its downstream neighbors will be satisfactorily resolved, without such assistance.

The Geographical Context of the Qoshtepa Canal

The Amu Darya River (Figure 3) originates from the Hindu Kush and Wakhan regions in the Pamir Highlands of Afghanistan, Tajikistan, and Kyrgyzstan. The Amu Darya basin is one of four significant basins in Afghanistan (the others being the Helmand/Hari-Rud, the Panj, and the Kabul). Its tributary, the Panj, is shared with Tajikistan, and the basin itself is located downstream in the vicinity of Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan. Before the near-disappearance of the Aral Sea over the last 60 years, the Amu Darya waters flowed into the Aral Sea, where the river came to an end. Now, that flow is barely a trickle when it reaches the old Aral Sea territory.



Figure 3. Map showing Amu Darya.

Source: Wikipedia 2010.

Figure 4 is a schematic map of the Amu Darya that shows the starting point for the Qoshtepa Canal, major Soviet-era canals in the region (notably the Karakum Canal), and canals currently under construction. The map also illustrates the relative flow levels of the Amu Darya: the intake point—the start of the main canal—is located nearly at the peak flow point of the river. In addition, the map indicates the shrinkage of the Aral Sea into three entities: a seasonal lake and the Southern and Northern Aral Seas.



Figure 4. Map of significant water withdrawal for irrigation in the Aral Sea basin.

Source: Modified after UNEP et al. 2011, 15.

The Qoshtepa Canal project is located in a very strategically important region in three northern provinces of Afghanistan: Balkh Province, where it starts, and Jawzjan and Faryab Provinces, where the Amu Darya River marks the border of Afghanistan with Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan (Figure 5). These three provinces, whose combined population is 3.33 million (out of the country's total population of nearly 43 million),² are home to significant minority ethnic groups, including Tajiks, Uz-

² Worldometer, "Countries in the World by Population" (accessed October 10, 2024), https://www.worldometers.info/world-population/population-by-country/.

beks, Sunni Hazara, and others, and they have presented governance challenges for many different governments in Kabul. In the late 1990s, this was the base of much of the Northern Alliance, which supported the International Security Assistance Force (ISAF) in bringing down the Taliban government in 2001. Northern Afghanistan, especially the area a bit north of the first intake point of the planned canal route on the very porous Afghan-Tajik border, has served as a haven for Islamic State–Khorasan (IS-K) and other transboundary terrorist groups (Pannier 2022, 6).

Figure 5. Three northern provinces where the Qoshtepa Canal will transport Amu Darya waters to previously nonarable land for irrigated farming.



Source: Nasar 2023.

The National and Regional Significance of the **Qoshtepa Canal**

The project has a long history dating back at least to the 1970s, but it was paused in 1978, after the Soviet Union supported a coup to overthrow President Daoud of the Republic of Afghanistan and before the Soviets fully invaded Afghanistan in December 1979. The Soviet–Afghan War of the 1980s led to the collapse of the country's governance, which contributed to the degradation of land and water resources; only half of arable land is now cultivated each year due to water shortages, and 11 percent of the country has no access to water (Thompson et al. 2015, 143). This current reality is in stark contrast to the Afghanistan of the 1970s, when the country was not only food sufficient but also one of the world's largest exporters of dried fruits and nuts.

Afghanistan was not tapping the waters of the Amu Darya significantly from the 1970s onward. But the Soviet Central Asian republics were exploiting scarce water resources, and in such an unsustainable manner as to create one of the greatest environmental catastrophes of our time: the drying up of the Aral Sea that once straddled the border between Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan. The Soviet Union's shortsighted policies—that is, the intensive cultivation of cotton that still consumes 92 percent of the extracted water of the Amu Darya, the construction of large-scale irrigation canals in the arid part of Central Asia that began in the 1930s, and a decades-long concealment of the Aral Sea disaster by authorities—turned the world's fourth largest inland sea mostly into a barren desert and made its full restoration virtually impossible. This is not the kind of experience that anyone would wish to see replicated with the Qoshtepa Canal.

Like earlier canal projects, the Qoshtepa Canal will have a significant impact on Amu Darya flow. According to the 2019 USAID feasibility study for the project, the Qoshtepa Canal was to irrigate 1.2 million acres of land annually, use up to 13.02 billion cubic meters (bcm) of water would have to be extracted from the Amu Darya. However, only 49 percent of the total land available in the surrounding area is estimated to be arable (AACS Consulting 2019, 60); hence, the actual annual water extraction would be around 6.37 bcm. It should be noted that this figure has no comprehensive study behind it and is a rough estimation of the irrigation demand based on the potential arable area. But analyzing these numbers, and excluding nonarable lands such as saline and sand dune–dominated lands, it appears that the Qoshtepa Canal might divert 8–17 percent of water from the Amu Darya,³ which is lower from the earlier and most quoted estimate of 20 percent (Shih 2023).

Although the canal will potentially reduce poverty and improve food security in Afghanistan, it raises serious concerns for downstream Central Asian neighbors like Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan. The canal would divert Amu Darya water away from these states—water they have relied on for decades to grow water-intensive cotton, fruits, vegetables, and grass for livestock. These downstream states already suffer from significant water shortages; for example, there have reportedly been some days

³ This range is calculated by dividing the two estimates for water extracted, 6.37 bcm and 13.02 bcm, by total renewable water in the Amu Darya basin water, 78 bcm.

when no tap water was available in the Turkmen capital of Ashgabat (RFE/RL 2022). Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan (as well as Afghanistan) suffer disproportionately from the climate change effects that are making Central Asia drier and hotter (Haag et al. 2019). Hence the quest for water security, and thus food security, in the region will only get more intense in the near future.

For Afghanistan, the concern is that the Qoshtepa Canal, which is unlined like earlier Soviet canals in Central Asia, could result in disastrous soil salinization and alkalinization. The earlier canals caused large-scale soil salinization as the groundwater levels exfiltrated to the surface through saline soil. The water pushed the salt to the surface and became salinized itself. Salinization in the region has significantly reduced the benefits of water for irrigation and drinking and is ongoing; despite efforts to reduce soil salinization in Central Asia, a study shows that it increased by about 7 percent from 1990 to 2018 (Measho et al. 2022). In Afghanistan, salinization and alkalinization could turn fertile agricultural land or rangeland into saline land where vegetation can hardly grow due to salt accumulation on the surface. A related risk is that during dry periods, accumulated fine salt particles can be blown by wind to other regions, further harming agricultural productivity in the region.

Not surprisingly, the Taliban are stressing the canal's potential benefits rather than any risks it poses. Domestically, the Qoshtepa Canal is a statement to ethnic minorities in Afghanistan that the Taliban support improving the quality of life of all their citizens, not just the Pushtun majority; to the outside world, it is meant to signal that contemporary Afghanistan can manage large infrastructure projects and stand up for its national interests. These domestic political and geopolitical security contexts are very significant for the project, and the government conducts many public relations activities around them (Hossain 2024). At a ceremony marking the completion of the first phase of the canal project, Mullah Abdul Ghani Baradar, the deputy prime minister for economic affairs, reassured his audience, "The Islamic Emirate intends to pay serious attention to agriculture and managing water, as we witness its good example in taking steps in the building of the Qoshtepa Canal" (Yazidani 2023).

Whatever its reception domestically, the canal poses serious geopolitical challenges for Afghanistan that will have to be resolved. Most obviously, Afghanistan will face potential conflicts with downstream neighbors, whose access to water may be depleted. In addition to Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan, Kabul will have to engage with Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan as parties to any new water-sharing agreement.

The Soviet invasion of Afghanistan in December 1979 launched a tragic period of nearly ceaseless civil conflict in Afghanistan that caused massive damage to the country's economy and infrastructure and that largely froze its development plans. Soviet-era water-sharing agreements on the Amu Darya excluded Afghanistan, as did agreements ratified by Central Asian states 1992, after their independence. This exclusion heightens the regional shock effect of the Qoshtepa Canal as a late-developing piece of water security infrastructure in the region.

Afghanistan today is something of a Rip Van Winkle in the region. While many of its development plans went into hibernation for more than 40 years, those of the countries around it did not, and much else changed as well. The Soviet war in Afghanistan created the first wave of global jihadists in the Muslim world. The collapse of the Soviet Union in 1991 reduced Moscow's great power role in the region, as Tajik-istan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan took the place of the USSR on Afghanistan's border. China's influence in Central and South Asia grew dramatically, while Iran, once Washington's staunchest regional ally in Southwest Asia, morphed into one of Washington's biggest security challenges. In this very different global environment, the Qoshtepa Canal has reemerged as a top national and economic development priority for Afghanistan, one that could revitalize the agricultural sector and restore food security to the country.

Geopolitics, the Plans for the Qoshtepa Canal, and Soviet-Afghan Relations During the Cold War

After the creation of Pakistan in 1947, the number one security concern for Afghanistan was conflict with Islamabad over Pushtunistan. The Soviet Union perceived the vulnerability of its Central Asian republics through potential US encroachments in Afghanistan via its key regional allies, Iran, and Pakistan. In December 1955, Soviet Premier Nikolai Bulganin and Party Leader Nikita Khrushchev traveled to Kabul to sign major agreements with Prime Minister Mohammed Daoud for military aid and economic assistance.

The Qoshtepa Canal project was first conceived by Prime Minister Daoud in the 1950s, but there was no progress on the project until Afghanistan developed its Seven-Year Plan (March 1976 to September 1983; see Figure 6), which was after Daoud emerged as the first president of the Republic of Afghanistan in the 1970s. Construction of the canal was planned on the basis of a long-term loan commitment from the Soviet Union.

Figure 6. Appearance of Qoshtepa irrigation canal project in Afghanistan's first Seven-Year Economic and Social Development Plan, 1976.



Source: Government of the Republic of Afghanistan 1976.

In his brilliant account of Afghan foreign policy through 1978, Abdul Samad Ghaus (1988, 84) refers to planned irrigation dams with canal systems to be located from Qizil Qala (Sher Khan Bandar on

the Amu Darya) in Balkh in northern Afghanistan to Kabul. Between 1964 and 1968, at the request of Afghanistan, Soviet specialists developed plans for the irrigation of Afghanistan's northern provinces, and an initial agreement on a feasibility study for the canal project was concluded between the parties in 1976. The Qoshtepa Canal construction was an essential part of Daoud's development plan, and on November 26, 1976, the Afghan Ministry of Water and Electricity and the USSR Selkhoz Prom Export reached an initial agreement for a feasibility study of the canal under a grant from the USSR of Rub 2 million (about US\$2.8 million at the official exchange rate of the time).⁴

In 1973, after 10 years out of politics, Mohammed Daoud had become president of the newly established Republic of Afghanistan thanks to a military coup. The Afghan military and the Soviet-supported socialist People's Democratic Party of Afghanistan played key roles in the coup, and Moscow was satisfied with the return of Daoud as leader of Afghanistan. However, Daoud was no socialist; rather, he was an Afghan nationalist, a modernizing reformer, and the most popular political figure in the country. He also shared the long-standing Afghan skepticism of Russian intentions. Nonetheless, because of the imminent threat from Pakistan and the reluctance of the US to supply arms to Afghanistan (until the fall of the shah, Pakistan and Iran were the two US anti-Soviet regional pillars), Kabul had to rely on Moscow for security assistance. As Ghaus points out in his history of the time, this reliance came at a high price:

"It became increasingly clear that the Russians aimed beyond the narrow limits of the status quo in the region; otherwise, they would not have busied themselves so assiduously in penetrating Afghan army cadres and establishing their network of subversion in a friendly country from which they had nothing to fear" (Ghaus 1988, 144).

In addition to supplying arms and training for military forces, the Soviet Union was also Afghanistan's largest source of economic assistance. President Daoud's new Seven-Year Plan for economic development was very ambitious, and his government sought and received funds and technical assistance from a diversity of sources, including the United Nations, the World Bank, the US, European states, and others. But over the course of the Daoud presidency, the Afghan government grew increasingly impatient with the Soviet refusal to consider supporting other major projects, including the construction of an oil refinery at Angot in northern Afghanistan, exploitation of the Mes Aynak's copper resources in Logar Province, and the development of the Hajigak iron ore reserves in the central Hindu Kush (Ghaus 1988, 166). In general, the Soviets sought to negotiate colonial-style deals where natural resources were extracted from Afghanistan and shipped to the USSR for processing.

This imperial style was unacceptable to Daoud, and his concerns about Soviet influence in the Afghan military were growing, as was his dissatisfaction with socialists in his government (Ghaus 1988, 163). In response, the Afghans sought to engage more with US and other Western assistance sources while continuing to improve relations with Pakistan, Iran, and others. Nevertheless, Kabul remained very solicitous of the Kremlin, as throughout the Cold War there remained a sense of vulnerability to invasion from the north. However, in what turned out to be Daoud's final trip to Moscow in August 1977, relations between him and Soviet leader Leonid Brezhnev broke down. In a discussion involving both full delegations, Brezhnev, who was visibly very ill at the time, insisted that Afghanistan expel Western

⁴ Based on an anonymous source's email with one of the authors, May 3, 2024.

workers and experts from the northern part of the country. Daoud was deeply offended by this perceived violation of Afghan sovereignty and coldly replied,

"We will never allow you to dictate to us how to run our country and whom to employ in Afghanistan. How and where we employ foreign experts will remain the exclusive prerogative of the Afghan state. Afghanistan shall remain poor, if necessary, but free in its acts and decisions" (quoted in Ghaus 1988, 179).

At this point, we cannot ascertain whether one of the projects engaging Western aid workers that Brezhnev referred to was the Qoshtepa Canal, but it is entirely possible, as this was the top development priority in northern Afghanistan at the time. The scant available evidence suggests that Brezhnev and Company had no interest in seeing an Afghan canal diverting water from the Amu Darya, where neighboring Soviet republics Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan were benefiting from the mighty river's waters for cotton cultivation. It would appear that the Kremlin's policy was to show support for the canal but to slow-roll the project. The Soviets might also have had a political motive for this policy—that is, they might not have wanted to see northern Afghanistan more prosperous than their own Central Asian republics, a situation that could have arisen if the Amu Darya had fed a canal in Afghanistan at the expense of Central Asian Soviet republics. Unfortunately, Afghanistan's archives of state papers from the period of Daoud's presidency in the 1970s were destroyed, so it is difficult to be certain on some questions regarding Kabul's development projects and negotiations with Moscow. For the purposes of this report, the authors have not been able to examine Soviet archives that might provide answers.

In April 1978, eight months after the Brezhnev–Daoud showdown in Moscow, the Soviet military and Afghan army supported the People's Democratic Party of Afghanistan in a coup in Kabul that left the president and many of his closest advisors dead. The coup was a prelude to the full Soviet invasion of Afghanistan 20 months later. Prior to the coup, Daoud had made significant progress in negotiating a normalization of relations with Pakistan, and this may have played into the Kremlin's calculations; the Soviets knew that if Kabul and Islamabad established bilateral ties, a large reason for giving preference to Soviet military support would be removed. After Daoud's assassination, the Afghan–Pakistan diplomatic negotiations fizzled, and Afghanistan's sovereignty and development goals went up in smoke. It would be nearly another 40 years before the Qoshtepa Canal would once again take its place as a high-priority development project for Afghanistan.

This historical narrative brings into sharp relief the truly tragic nature of the Soviet-led coup against the Daoud government in 1978 and the crushing blow of the full Soviet invasion the next year. Daoud understood that for Afghanistan to thrive, it had to be connected to its neighbors through stable borders, strong trade, and investment flows in licit goods. This was the vision of Afghanistan as the "heart of Asia," a vision he pursued to improve diplomatic and economic ties with other countries. At a state dinner shortly before Daoud's death, held at the Shalimar Gardens in Lahore, Pakistani leader General Zia read a Dari poem by Pakistan's poet laureate Allama lqbal expressing this concept:

"The continent of Asia made of water and clay is but one body In that body, the heart is the Afghan nation The destruction of that nation will result in the destruction of Asia The prosperity of that nation will bring about the prosperity of Asia As long as the head remains free, the body will be free, Otherwise, it will become like a straw on the path of the wind" (quoted in Ghaus 1988, 44).

In the Footsteps of the Soviet-Era Irrigation Projects in Central Asia

Two major Soviet-era "construction projects of the century," both located in present-day Turkmenistan, were designed to take Amu Darya River water to irrigate very arid land in the Karakum Valley: Stalin's Main Turkmen Canal (Yusupov et al. 1951, 144) and Khrushchev's Karakum Canal (Gerasimov 1978). Notably, while the Main Turkmen Canal was never completed, the construction of the Karakum Canal serves as a cautionary warning about prioritizing speed and cost over environmental considerations, which is the focus of our discussion in this section.

The decree of the Council of Ministers of the USSR on the construction of the Main Turkmen Canal which was to be 1,100 km in length and extend from the Amu Darya to Krasnovodsk (Caspian Sea) was issued on September 12, 1950, under Stalin's leadership. That is, the decree was issued while the "father of nations" was still alive and the cult of Stalin was exalted. The canal was expected to irrigate 1.3 million ha of land in the southern areas of the Caspian Plain of western Turkmenistan.

The principal labor force for the project, as for other large projects undertaken by Stalin, was prisoners, most of whom were serving time for embezzlement of state property and were forced to work in conditions of freshwater shortages and dysentery. However, despite the overabundance of workers (10,000 in 1952; see Dukhovny and de Schutter [2011, 162]) and the frantic pace of construction, the Main Turkmen Canal was not completed, and the project was shut down in 1953. The problem for the Main Turkmen Canal was threefold: (1) the canal was Stalin's idea, and when he died in 1953, the project lost its number-one sponsor; (2) the effort to link up the Amu Darya with the Caspian Sea was too ambitious; and (3) the economic rationale for doing so was weakened as Nikita Khrushchev, Stalin's successor, began liberating prisoners, the main workforce for the Main Turkmen Canal.

Stalin's desire to irrigate the Karakum Valley was shared by Khrushchev, who implemented the 1,400 km long Karakum Canal from the village of Basarga in the middle reaches of the Amu Darya. The canal is the primary source of fresh water in modern Turkmenistan and is fed by the Amu Darya. (Turkmenistan consumes 15,445 L of water daily per capita;⁵ some four-fifths of its territory is covered by desert; and 1.7 million ha are irrigated, 1 million of them by the Amu Darya ([Ahmad and Wasiq 2004, 28]).

Shortly after the 1959 launch of the first stage of the Karakum Canal (a 400 km segment reaching from the Amu Darya to the Murghab), and before the start of the second stage (a 144 km segment reaching to the Tejen River), the Aral Sea had already begun to shrink dramatically. By the completion of the canal's fourth phase, the Amu Darya no longer reached the Aral Sea, instead filling Turkmenistan's dried-up Sarykamysh River.

The republican newspaper *Turkmenskaya Iskra (The Turkmen Spark)* noted the rapid speed of the canal's construction: "Through the gap penetrated by buckets, at first timidly, and then faster and faster the water rushed down the canal to Tejen" (Annaorazov 2024). Pressured by the dictates of the

⁵ Worldometer, "Water Use by Country" (accessed October 18, 2024), https://www.worldometers.info/water/.

seven-year plan, the Soviet authorities hurried to implement the project in the shortest possible time; the second stage of the Karakum Canal project was originally to have lasted five years (1960–1965) but was later reduced to only two years.

Moreover, the canal was implemented by the most primitive narodnaya stroika ("people's construction method") due to lack of funds (Annaorazov 2024).⁶ The danger that the Karakum Canal banks would rupture was already evident during its construction. To save money, the Soviet authorities used a crude method of "flattening" during construction, an approach they had used at a number of other large reservoirs in Soviet Turkmenistan. The "gentle unreinforced wave-resistant slopes both on the reservoirs and in the canal itself" were cheap (Gerasimov 1978, 19) and were designed based only on theoretical calculations. The waterproofing of the project was carried out in the earthen canal using the most outdated materials, such as clay and sand, which were broken into small pieces and distributed on the walls and bottom of the canal. Because it lacked a concrete lining, the Karakum Canal became covered with silt over time, and in early 2023 it burst, leaking 100 million cubic meters (mcm) of water into the dried sand (Turkmen.news 2023). The Karakum Canal wastes 18 percent of the total 10-12 bcm of water it annually brings to the central part of Turkmenistan due to infiltration into the saline soil, which has led to massive agricultural land salinization in Turkmenistan. According to a 2020 FAO report, 68 percent of the total irrigated area in Turkmenistan was impacted by soil salinization (FAO, 2020). As of 2011, roughly 50 percent of arable land was affected by salinization and waterlogging, compared to 25 percent a decade earlier; in turn, crop yield showed a decrease of 20-30 percent (UNECE 2012, 105).

One reason for high soil salinization was the absence of drainage canals to transport the excess water from irrigation fields containing high concentrations of salts. Even now, Central Asia continues to combat soil salinization, which occurs as salt is blown by strong seasonal winds from one region to another, at times even reaching Afghanistan.

Over the years, the Karakum Canal became both a large-scale water management infrastructure of the Soviet Union⁷ and a symbol of the "cotton curse" of modern Central Asia: from 1965 to 1980, in Uzbekistan alone, the Soviet Union built about 170,000 km of canals to irrigate 4.2 million ha of land, largely for the purpose of growing cotton (Weinthal 2002, 6), and it invested Rub 12.3 billion in water management and land reclamation—twice the amount of funding allocated to the entire region in 1945–1965 for the same purpose (Dukhovny and de Schutter [2011, 192]).

Table 1. Rate of commissioned irrigated lands inSoviet Central Asia

| Period | Rate (million ha per year) | |
|--------|-------------------------------|--|
| 1960s | 1+ | |
| 1970s | Up to 6.8 | |
| 1980s | Up to 7.9 | |

Source: Dukhovny and de Schutter 2011, 186.

Soviet Central Asia continued to increase its cotton production quotas, even as the Aral Sea continued to shrink. In the early 1980s, the Soviet Union produced 9 million tons of cotton, making it the fourth largest producer in the world (Grabish 1999).

Thus, as Erika Weinthal (2006, 73) maintains, the planned economy of the Soviet Union became synonymous with cotton monoculture even as it demonstrated the destructive

6 The implied meaning of "people's construction method" emphasizes using high numbers of laborers to compensate for machinery and technology.

7 The task of turning Central Asia into a guarantor of cotton independence for the Soviet Union began in 1933; continued in 1966 (23rd Communist Party Congress) as part of a program to intensify crop yields; and then continued further in chemical land reclamation.

impact of political power on the environment. Cotton produced in Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan continues to this day to deplete the resources of common transboundary rivers. The "great construction projects" of the Soviet era finally changed the course of the Amu Darya, reducing by half the water in one of the region's largest arteries.

Central Asia, virtually a colonial periphery far from the imperial capital in Moscow, was developed in a very lopsided manner, with a near singular focus on providing the USSR with a valuable cash crop, cotton. This mono-development was managed without regard for conservation of water resources and caused great environmental damage to the region, which persists to this day. The most powerful legacy for Central Asia has been the loss of 90 percent of the territory of the Aral Sea, formerly the fourth-largest inland body of water in the world.

The Return of the Qoshtepa Canal to Afghanistan's Development Agenda

The Qoshtepa Canal did not return as a high-priority agenda item for Afghanistan until 2017 under President Ashraf Ghani. In 2018, Kabul signed an agreement with USAID for a feasibility study of a new Qoshtepa Canal to divert waters of the Amu Darya and open huge new areas of agricultural land. Three years after the agreement was signed, both the Americans and the Ghani government were gone from the scene. If this sequence of events sounds familiar, it is because they recall events of the 1970s, when President Daoud signed an agreement for a Soviet feasibility study on the canal and—along with his government was gone three years later. Fortunately, however, the feasibility study was completed in 2019.

In a 2004 report entitled *Water Resource Development in Northern Afghanistan and Its Implications for the Amu Darya Basin*, the World Bank refers to studies of the Qoshtepa irrigation systems carried out in the 1950s and again in the late 1980s; these led to a development plan for nearly 1 million ha, but this remained unrealized due to lack of funds (Ahmad and Wasiq 2004, 21). It must be said that compared to these earlier iterations, the current Qoshtepa Canal project is larger—in the dimensions of the canal, amount of water intake from the Amu Darya, and size of the irrigated area. It also differs in the method of water flow into the canal and location of water uptake from the Amu Darya River.

During Hamid Karzai's rule, the Qoshtepa project remained a government priority, but it was set aside because opposition from downstream Central Asian states made the US reluctant to support it.⁸ Throughout the most recent war in Afghanistan and especially after the surge of US forces in Afghanistan in 2009, the United States was extremely dependent on the Central Asian states for the transit of soldiers and materials to Afghanistan. The establishment of the Northern Distribution Network in 2009 to support the US surge made Uzbekistan's significance as part of transit corridors second only to Pakistan's.⁹ Hence, the reluctance of US officials to be enthusiastic about the Qoshtepa Canal.¹⁰

Only in 2018, after the logistical supply demand had dramatically decreased with US troop withdrawals, did the US government express support for the canal under the US-backed Afghan government of Ashraf Ghani. During the second attempt at the project, USAID conducted feasibility studies for irrigation infrastructure, including 500,000 ha of land, 270 km of canals, and several dams (USAID 2018). At that time, USAID also identified agriculture as the most important source of livelihood for Afghans, as more than 80 percent of the population and 90 percent of the impoverished lived in rural areas. Construction work on the canal was initiated in the first half of 2021, and according to satellite images, 7 km had been built before the Ghani government fell to the Taliban in August 2021.¹¹

⁸ In May 2024, one of the authors had this point confirmed by former Afghan government officials who served during the Karzai and Ghani administrations after 2002.

⁹ For more on the Northern Distribution Network and Uzbekistan's role, see Kuchins et al. (2009).

¹⁰ Based on authors' discussions with former Afghan officials, May 2024.

¹¹ Based on a discussion with Najibullah Sadid (hydraulic engineer, associate researcher), Karlsruhe, April 30, 2024.

Six months after the fall of Kabul, in March 2022, the interim authorities of Afghanistan resumed the construction of the Qoshtepa Canal. Satellite imagery provided by US-based Planet Labs PBC confirmed the rapid progress in construction of the canal, and by October 2023, just a year and a half after starting construction, the interim government had completed the first 108 km of the planned 285 km.

Notably, the first section of the project was completed without technical or financial support from foreigners. The Afghan Ministry of Finance promised to cover the cost of canal construction—priced at US\$1.5 billion, according to the AACS 2019 feasibility study—from the country's domestic revenues. These have increased as a result of the government's fight against corruption and tax evasion. The World Bank estimates that the project's first phase was financed from reserve funds and that the canal alone accounted for 51 percent of Afghanistan's total development expenditures (Waheed et al. 2023, 38).

The AACS 2019 feasibility study projected that the main canal, all its sub-canals for irrigation, and land preparation for agriculture would be completed in 16 years. However, the interim government of Afghanistan projects that work on the main canal, to be carried out in three phases, will be complete and the canal operational by 2028, or about six years in total. Even acknowledging that the Ghani government had completed 7 km of the canal before the takeover by the Taliban in August 2021, the projected pace is a very rapid one.

The first phase of the canal, spanning 108 km, was implemented within just a year and a half after the start of construction (Figure 7) at a cost of over Af 8 billion, a sum supplied from the state budget and equivalent to US\$115 million. This section was inaugurated in October 2023. As this report is being written (October 2024), the second and final phases, which span an additional 177 km, are currently underway at a rapid pace (as shown in Figure 8).

Figure 7. Sentinel-2 satellite image showing first phase of construction, with work starting in Kaldar District in Balkh Province, bordering Tajikistan. This section of the canal is also partly filled by groundwater seeping into it during the excavation due to higher groundwater levels close to Amu Darya.

Figure 8. Sentinel-2 satellite image showing the progress of the Qoshtepa Canal in August 2024. The image shows the second and final phases of the main canal in Balkh, Jawzjan, and Faryab Provinces in northern Afghanistan.



Source: Modified Copernicus Sentinel data [2024]/ Sentinel Hub.



Source: Modified Copernicus Sentinel data [2024]/ Sentinel Hub.

For the past two and a half years, virtually all the press coverage of the canal—both Afghan and foreign—has focused on the six-year period to complete the 285 km main canal. However, the milestones for completing the Qoshtepa Canal project (Table 2) suggest a very different time frame for fully operationalizing the canal.

Theoretically, the main canal could be operationalized as soon as the intake infrastructure work is completed, and based on the current pace of progress that could be as soon as 2025. The official website of Afghanistan's National Development Corporation (NDC) reports progress on the intake structure at 50 percent; and Abdul Rahman Atash, the CEO of NDC, speaks of some water to be released to the main Qoshtepa Canal as soon as next year (2025) (Niazi 2024).

But the flow of water from Amu Darya into the main canal does not mean full-capacity water consumption, as water release into the main canal can also impact downstream (AACS Consulting 2019, 45), largely due to seepage from the canal bed. The 2019 feasibility study estimates 22 percent water loss in the first 40 km of the canal and 8 percent loss for the rest of the canal. Agricultural use of water at this stage will not be significant because the sub-canals that should transport water to the fields are not there, and agricultural fields are not yet ready for farming. The forecast is for an additional 10 years before the entire system is complete and Afghanistan can make full use of the new waters derived through the canal system (AACS Consulting 2019, 154). This extended time frame for completion alleviates some of the urgency for Afghanistan to reach a new political agreement with its Central Asian neighbors over water use in the Amu Darya basin.

| Structure | Quantity, length | Progress or status |
|--------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------|
| Main canal | One canal, 285 km | Under excavation |
| Main canal's intake structure | One | Under construction |
| Branch canals | Two canals, 37 km and 45 km | Not yet started |
| Secondary canals | 27 canals, each 7 km to 22 km | Not yet started |
| Tertiary canals | 182 canals | Not yet started |
| Quaternary canals | 3,395 canals, each irrigating 30 to 60 ha | Not yet started |
| Drainage canals | 692 km | Not yet started |
| Pump stations | 23 solar-powered pump stations for non-gravity irrigation | Not yet started |
| Hydraulic structures (cross-regulator) | 42 | Not yet started |
| Hydraulic structures (head-regulator) | 311 | Not yet started |
| Hydraulic structures (main canal drop structure) | 46 | Not yet started |
| Water intake structures for tertiary canals | 3,395 | Not yet started |

Table 2. Main Qoshtepa Canal milestones indicated in feasibility study report.

| Structure | Quantity, length | Progress or status |
|------------------------------------------------------|------------------|-----------------------------------------------|
| Water intake structures for drainage canals | 13,577 | Not yet started |
| Hydraulic structures (drainage canal drop structure) | 224 | Not yet started |
| Bridges (highway, community) | 56 | Two of 56 constructed; one under construction |

Source: AACS Consulting 2019.

Significantly, the Afghan government, demonstrating its self-reliance, is implementing the second and final phases using funds from the sale of coal to Pakistan.¹² In doing without technical and financial support from outside sources, the government is continuing its approach for the first phase. The final phase involves the construction of smaller irrigation canals for existing and new agricultural fields in Jawzjan, Faryab, and Balkh—the densely populated provinces of northern Afghanistan that border Central Asia. Table 2 shows the large number of branch, secondary, tertiary, quaternary, and drainage sub-canals, as well as hydraulic infrastructure, that will have to be constructed after the main canal is completed.

Local authorities claim that the Qoshtepa Canal project is set to revolutionize Afghanistan's agriculture (TOLOnews 2022), allowing the country to become self-sufficient in wheat and to export other crops. Given the widespread drought and low rainfall characteristic of Afghanistan's highland and arid weather, constructing the canal is likely to increase wheat yields significantly. Such improvement could help prevent further contraction of the Afghan agricultural sector, which according to the World Bank declined by 6.6 percent in 2022 (Waheed et al. 2023, 6). As the agricultural sector accounts for 36 percent of the country's GDP (Waheed et al. 2023, 6), this decline poses a risk to Afghanistan's already fragile economy and its efforts to recover from the shocks of a long war and persistent poverty—and highlight's the canal's importance.

In addition to improving agricultural output, the Qoshtepa Canal would create jobs. According to the World Bank's Agricultural Sector Review, irrigated farmland could create up to 60 percent more jobs per hectare than rain-fed farmland. Even with available water, "shifting from wheat to production of some horticultural crops could triple or even quadruple, the labor input (employment) per hectare" (World Bank 2014b, 8).

Currently, nearly 16 million people, or almost 50 percent of the population, struggle to acquire sufficient food, while unemployment has led a new group of people to face hunger and malnutrition. In response, the World Food Programme has launched an urgent appeal to the global community to support the Afghan people.¹³ Despite the grim reality that unemployment has doubled since the Taliban assumed power (Waheed et al. 2023, 23), the Prime Minister's Office for Economic Affairs of Afghanistan reported in 2022 that the first phase of the Qoshtepa Canal project was already employing 5,000 Afghan workers (Deputy PM for Economic Affairs 2022). The number of jobs created once the canal is completed is expected to be much larger.

¹² This information comes from various sources.

¹³ World Food Programme, "Afghanistan," https://www.wfp.org/emergencies/afghanistan-emergency.

Meanwhile, the latest official statistics indicate that the Afghan population is growing by 1 million annually (Melis and Zuliani 2023, 8). Out of the total population, now estimated to be over 43 million, about 60 percent live in rural areas and are mainly dependent on the country's agricultural economy. This situation highlights the need for continued development of the agriculture sector to support the livelihoods and food security of millions of people in Afghanistan.

Finally, by implementing the Qoshtepa project independently, the Taliban are doing more than pursuing economic goals and seeking to solve social problems. They are trying to strengthen their regional power and, at the very least, prompt neighboring states to recognize their political ability and the legitimacy of their authority, as evidenced by Kabul's constant informal talks with Central Asian governments. The Taliban's formation of provincial security forces to safeguard the canal¹⁴ and their pledge to defend it also demonstrate their view of the canal as essential for the country's prosperity and sovereignty. The message is that no foreigners will prevent Afghanistan from pursuing its reasonable national interests (Yaazdani 2023).

¹⁴ The area of the canal designated for protection by the security forces extends from the intake construction in Kaidar District of Balkh down to Faryab Province, where canal construction has just begun. See Ministry of Interior Affairs–Afghanistan (@moiafghanistan), "An equipped security detachment has been established to ensure the safety of the Qoshtepa Canal," X, November 15, 2023, https://x.com/moiafghanistan/status/1724713699661812223.

Legal and Technical Perspectives on the **Qoshtepa Canal**

The current allocation of water from the Amu Darya River basin for agriculture is a legacy of the Soviet Union's Protocol 566 of December 3, 1987. This instrument, established by the Ministry of Land Reclamation and Water Management of the USSR, set the limit of total annual withdrawal from the Amu Darya by the four Central Asian signatories—Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan—at 61.5 bcm (see Table 3). This total assumed annual withdrawal by Afghanistan of 2.1 bcm (Ahmad and Wasiq 2004, 33–34).

| Destination | Limit (bcm/year) | Share of total use (%) |
|-----------------|------------------|------------------------|
| Uzbekistan | 29.6 | 48.2 |
| Turkmenistan | 22.0 | 35.8 |
| Tajikistan | 9.5 | 15.4 |
| Kyrgyzstan | 0.4 | 0.6 |
| Total for basin | 61.5 | 100 |

Table 3. Water distribution limits in the Amu Darya basin.

Allocations downstream of the Kerki gauging site Uzbekistan 22.0

Source: Ahmad and Wasiq 2004, 34.

Turkmenistan

Afghanistan, which currently withdraws approximately 2.5 bcm from the Amu Darya, was not party to Protocol 566. Not surprisingly, Moscow did not include Afghanistan in the agreement, as it was fighting a war there at the time the agreement was formalized.

22.0

In 1992, after the USSR was no more and the Central Asian countries had gained independence, a new agreement was signed by the Aral Sea Basin countries: the Agreement on Cooperation in the Management, Utilization, and Protection of Interstate Water Resources, known as the *Almaty Agreement*. This agreement commits the signatories to adhere to the principles of water allocation agreed upon during the Soviet era, to exchange information, and to collaborate on joint research. The Almaty Agreement created the Interstate Commission for Water Coordination (ICWC) with the mandate to govern the interstate allocation of water resources in the Amu Darya and Syr Darya Rivers. The Nukus Declaration, adopted at a conference of the Central Asian Heads of State in 1995, affirms that the Central Asian states recognize the earlier signed water management agreements and pledge to continue to implement

50

50

them. Current allocations are agreed semiannually among the four countries within the framework of the ICWC (World Bank 2014a). All of these subsequent agreements also excluded Afghanistan from the negotiations; because Kabul is not a signatory, it has no obligation to abide by them.

International law is applicable to the Amu Darya and assumes voluntary use of international watercourses.¹⁵ It does not oblige Afghanistan, which was excluded from the Almaty Agreement, to comply with annual water use restrictions. Moreover, the downstream countries of the Amu Darya (initially the Soviet Union, and later Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan) favored considering the water of the Amu Darya basin as national wealth and ignoring threats to water security in the region.

Exclusion of Afghanistan from the Central Asian water treaty paved the way for extensive modification of the banks of the Amu Darya River (i.e., reinforcement of the natural banks bordering with Afghanistan by Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan). These modifications left the Afghanistan side of the Amu Darya exposed to significant erosion, so that large fertile agricultural and housing areas were worn away and became part of the river. People in these areas were displaced to other regions, including south of the Amu Darya banks in a desert full of sand dunes (Mahmoodzad et al. 2023), e.g., in the Khamab and Qarqin Districts of Jawzjan.

The Aral Sea basin water-sharing arrangements stemming from Protocol 566 in 1987 are anachronistic not only because they exclude Afghanistan but also because the Aral Sea itself has almost completely disappeared in the 33 years since the Soviet collapse. As was pointed out earlier in this report, the coming of the Qoshtepa Canal is a late-developing shock for regional water sharing in the Amu Darya basin. From this perspective, the urgency is not for a new Aral Sea Basin agreement but for an Amu Darya basin agreement. It is virtually impossible that the southern portion of the former Aral Sea territory fed by Amu Darya waters can be revived. Kazakhstan has made modest progress in the Northern Aral Sea area, but this is not relevant for Amu Darya water. The key countries required for an Amu Darya basin agreement include Afghanistan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan.

Since the start of the most recent attempt to build the Qoshtepa Canal by the interim authorities of Afghanistan, the Amu Darya has been the subject of somewhat contentious regional governmental discussions and press commentary, and there has been concern that the canal's completion could lead to increased regional conflict. The environmental coalition Rivers without Boundaries (2024) estimates that the completed canal could divert up to 20 percent of the Amu Darya's water flow to irrigate agricultural land in northern Afghanistan, exacerbating water scarcity throughout Central Asia. The countries downstream of the Amu Darya, whose economies are closely linked to income from agriculture and especially cotton production, will be hardest hit by the canal's construction.¹⁶ Still, these concerns may be exaggerated; according to a recent study by Busch et al. (2023, 11), even if the Qoshtepa Canal diverts 25 percent of the water from Amu Darya, it will reduce Uzbekistan's GDP by only 0.7 percent beyond 2030.

International experts are very concerned about outdated methods of canal construction and the Taliban's efforts to minimize the cost of project implementation by digging a ditch with excavators without lining the canal by geotextile and concrete to reduce the losses (*The Economist* 2023). An article in CABAR.Asia finds that the methods used will significantly increase the probability of water

¹⁵ For the relevant law, see "UN Convention on the Law of the Non-navigational Uses of International Watercourses," International Water Law Project, May 21, 1997, https://internationalwaterlaw.org/documents/intldocs/watercourse_conv.html.

¹⁶ Agriculture accounts for 17 percent of Uzbekistan's GDP and 10 percent of Turkmenistan's GDP.

losses through soil seepage (Adylbekova 2023). There is also concern that the launch of the canal will increase soil salinization, and that further implementation of the agro-industrial complex by Afghans will spoil large areas of land and increase the amount of salt water in the lower reaches of the Amu Darya (Ibraimov and Ali 2023).

The canal is being dug into very sandy soil, particularly in its first phase, and is not being lined with geotextile and concrete to avoid seepage losses. Unlined canals not only waste fresh water through seepage into the saline soil but (as explained above) also cause salinization of agricultural land by pushing the salts of the soil onto the surface, as groundwater levels rise once the canal is filled with water.

As the Amu Darya transports large amounts of sediments throughout the year, sedimentation is another concern. The canal's lack of a desilting structure to reduce sediment entry could lead to sediment deposition in the canal and decrease its efficiency. The excavated soil from canal construction is currently being dumped along the canal without taking proper soil stabilization measures. The wind drives the disturbed soil and sand back into the canal, allowing sediment deposition and weed growth, which in turn reduce the canal's efficiency in conveying water and can cause erosion of its banks.

By 2040, the Amu Darya's waters will be depleted by another 3 km³ due to water withdrawal by Afghanistan, in addition to the predicted decrease by 2.6 km³ due to climate change. Such developments could potentially destabilize Uzbekistan's relations with Turkmenistan and both countries' ties with Afghanistan. In September 2023, at a meeting of the founding countries of the International Fund for Saving the Aral Sea, Uzbek leader Shavkat Mirziyoyev urged Central Asian states to study the construction of the Qoshtepa Canal, "which is not bound by any obligations" with Central Asian countries but which could "radically change the water regime and balance in Central Asia" (President of the Republic of Uzbekistan 2023). To date, however, no official objections to the Qoshtepa Canal have come from Afghanistan's Central Asian neighbors (though Turkmenistan has demanded that Afghanistan use a "science-based approach to water withdrawal from transboundary rivers" and employ "highly qualified personnel" capable of properly managing the canal) (Akhal-Teke 2024). Both Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan have a number of other interests that require the cooperation of Kabul, such as the Turkmenistan-Afghanistan-Pakistan-India gas pipeline and the extension of the Uzbek-Afghanistan rail link to Pakistan. Hence they are for now reluctant to take a position directly opposed to Afghanistan (Duffy 2023).

Conclusions and Recommendations

After nearly 70 years of discussions and planning of multiple governments in Kabul, the Qoshtepa Canal is being constructed in northern Afghanistan. This critical infrastructure, which will affect access to water for irrigation for millions of farmers in an increasingly water-deprived part of the world, is essential for the future prosperity of Afghanistan. The country's top priority should be building an efficient and well-engineered canal, but there is reason to think that Afghanistan on its own may not be able to do this. Central Asia has already suffered several generations of water shortages, mainly because of poorly constructed irrigation infrastructure, soil salinization, and excessive reliance on cotton planting. Moreover, climate change is making Central Asia dryer and hotter at a rapid pace. Ensuring that the canal is constructed to appropriate standards and with due regard for the health of the environment is vital.

To achieve this end, the following steps are recommended:

- The United States should use the opportunity of this critical project to engage the interim authorities of Afghanistan. This is essential to ensure construction of a well-engineered canal that maximizes efficient water use in Afghanistan. If the United States supports the project in principle, or at least does not seek to block it, there is a higher likelihood that the multilateral development banks—like the World Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, and the Asian Development Bank—will support the project financially, technically, and diplomatically.
- 2. The United States should work with multilateral development institutions to ensure that they or other responsible actors provide the interim authorities of Afghanistan technical assistance, including consultancy services, not only for the construction of the canal itself but also for construction of the much broader irrigation system that it will support. Afghanistan lacks enough technically trained personnel to handle the complex construction of the canal and establish a modern national water management system. A core problem is the lack of highly trained hydraulic engineers, many of whom have left Afghanistan since the Taliban takeover. Some critical ministries and government agencies that in other countries might be headed by technocrats are in Afghanistan headed by mullahs.
- 3. The United States should convene its allies and partners to support diplomacy around regional water-sharing including Afghanistan. Minimally, the parties to such an agreement should include Afghanistan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan. There are numerous such transboundary agreements adjudicating water sharing in many river basins around the world, and their experience can help frame this new agreement.
- 4. Washington should also work with its allies, partners, and multilateral institutions to provide downstream states, specifically Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan, with additional investment and technical assistance to improve their own irrigation systems using Amu Darya waters. International assistance is now supporting their transition to move away from raising mostly very water-intensive crops, but far more resources and effort are required. This assistance must also address regional water pricing that is critical to promote less water use per capita. The promise of significantly in-

creased financial and technical support also provides incentives for Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan to reach a water-sharing agreement with Afghanistan..

While the incoming Trump administration faces many foreign policy and national security challenges across multiple regions, a failure to engage in Afghanistan and Central Asia on water security increases the likelihood of regional instability, conflict, governance failures, and global terrorist groups using the territory to undermine broader U.S. interests. Given the rapid acceleration of glaciers melting across Central Asia, this may be the last chance to prevent ongoing environmental, economic, social, and regional security challenges from reaching genuinely catastrophic proportions.

The massive challenges Central Asia faces in managing water security are laid out by Eric Rudenshiold (2023) in a Caspian Policy Center report entitled "Is It Too Late to Save Central Asia?" An affirmative answer to this question seems premature. But the region must act now to reorient regional water-use policies in a more sustainable and equitable manner if it is to prevent major catastrophes.

Part of the necessary reorientation involves major changes in regional water pricing. Regional states must make significant policy changes to promote a more integrated water-use system and to take advantage of large-scale assistance from the international donors starting right now with the Qoshtepa Canal project. While the canal system is not expected to be fully operational (meet its maximum designed capacity) for another 14 years, action is needed now, since building an efficient canal, negotiating a new regional water-sharing agreement, and revising current water-use practices are all significant challenges that will be difficult to implement.

The situation requires a "first mover" to unlock the involvement of Western and other states as well as international multilateral assistance institutions. The United States is well fitted to play this essential role, which need not entail officially recognizing Afghanistan, but does require engaging the country's de facto authorities. Afghanistan has never indicated it is against such assistance with the canal. No doubt there are some hardliners in Kabul wary of international engagement, but the authors' sources suggest a broader openness on this question.

Some may reasonably question why Afghanistan, as an upstream state, would desire to sign water-sharing agreements with downstream neighbors that could constrain its use of water. It is also reasonable to question why the Taliban—or Turkmenistan or Uzbekistan, for that matter—would be willing to trust foreigners' assistance, which would necessarily be of long duration—that is, for at least a decade. Corruption will also present a huge challenge for any donor institutions seeking to implement plans for a project of this scale. Fortunately, the multilateral development banks have extensive experience in working in very difficult governance structures. Conditionality and transparency will be critical at every step.

Afghans have rightly earned a reputation for being fiercely independent amidst a group of neighboring states that have at different times sought to constrain, if not eliminate, Afghan sovereignty. It would be foolhardy indeed not to acknowledge that the steps proposed above face tremendous headwinds. It is also necessary to keep in mind the domestic political context in Afghanistan and the canal's implementation as an independent project of the Afghan state under the rule of the Taliban. Never-theless, there are domestic officials known to the authors of this report who recognize the technical difficulties of going it alone. In our view, leaders in Kabul and in Central Asia will ultimately act in a pragmatic fashion in the face of a genuinely growing crisis in their midst.

On October 29, 2024, TOLO news published an article summarizing an interview with Ismatullah Irgashev, Uzbekistan's Special Representative for Afghanistan, who revealed the two countries had established a bilateral joint commission on issues around the Qoshtepa Canal. He noted that two meetings had already taken place, and a third is scheduled in early November. Irgashev also said,

"It's important to note that Afghanistan and the Afghan people have the right to make use of the Amu Darya's waters as a primary matter. In this regard, there are no concerns or challenges. The key issue is how much water should be drawn from the Amu Darya. Here, the interests of all countries using the Amu's water resources must be taken into account, and a third issue is that the water level in the Amu Darya varies each year. This means that in one year, the water level may rise, while in another, it may decrease (Shinwari 2024).

These bilateral talks mark a promising diplomatic step, but it will be imperative for them to be multilateralized soon to discuss a regional water sharing agreement. These talks will be lengthy, complicated, and controversial, but they are essential.

It is also reasonable to have doubts about the other half of the equation—the willingness of Washington to support a project that could help the Taliban economically and thus politically. Whether Washington likes it or not, however, the Taliban are the de facto authorities in Afghanistan, and there is little likelihood of this changing in the foreseeable future. To their credit, they have actually begun to carry out the largest development project in the history of Afghanistan, one that could potentially bring great benefits for millions of people. Very different Afghan governments over the past 50 years have supported some kind of Qoshtepa Canal. This is hardly a capricious endeavor pursued by some delusional dictator on a whim. Water security is now the greatest challenge for regional governments across Central Asia, and it does not take great imagination to see the downside risks for regional security and even global security if growing water security challenges for the region are not addressed comprehensively and with US support.

As the Qoshtepa Canal project proceeds, the political and social security of Afghanistan and Central Asia will be under tremendous threat, with the potential for massive state failures that reverberate far beyond the region. The United States failed to appreciate the magnitude of the terrorist threat in the late 1990s that led to 9/11. For Washington to step in to help mobilize financial and political support for the canal project would be a wonderful example of what Ashton Carter and William Perry (1999, 258) described more than a quarter of a century ago as "preventive defense": taking modest steps in cooperation with others that help prevent truly catastrophic worst-case scenarios. This need not be a high-profile policy initiative for the incoming administration; in fact, it is best if it is not. The US Congress would not be inclined to provide any financial assistance for the Taliban anytime soon, and, in fact, we are not recommending that now. We are, however, recommending quiet, behind-the-scenes support from the next administration to promote building a better Qoshtepa Canal, a new regional water-sharing agreement, and more regional technical assistance for more sustainable water usage practices in Central Asia at large.

These recommendations for the incoming Trump administration constitute a piece of a broader regional development strategy with global implications. Afghanistan and its Central Asian neighbors border three of Washington's most challenging global actors: China, Russia, and Iran. There is no question that Central Asian states seek broader and more diversified U.S. engagement in the region to hedge against the overweening influence of Beijing, Moscow, and Tehran. Supporting the construction of the Qoshtepa Canal, a regional water-sharing agreement, and more sustainable water-use practices should be an integral piece of Washington's strategy to contain increased influence of China, Russia, and Iran with Afghanistan and its Central Asian neighbors.

About the Authors

Elvira Aidarkhanova is an accomplished international consultant, scholar, and multilingual writer with over 12 years of global experience in Eurasian Studies. Currently, she serves as a Research Associate at the Center for the National Interest in Washington D.C., with areas of interest include Russia, Central Asia, the Middle East, and the Caucasus. Elvira has contributed to various research initiatives in international relations and has held communications roles in both Kazakhstan's private and public sectors, as well as in think tanks in the United States. She holds a Master of Arts in Human Science and an MBA, and she is currently a Ph.D. candidate in International Relations.

Contact: aidarkhanova@cftni.org

Zekria Barizkai is a former top Afghan diplomat (Consul General of Afghanistan in Istanbul, Turkey) and has more than 30 years of experience working with private sector, international organizations, NGOs and government of Afghanistan. He received his MA in International Relations from Moscow State University for International Relation (MGIMO) Moscow, Russia and currently he is a PhD researcher of International Affairs at Altinbas University Istanbul, Turkey. He is an experienced professional in the fields of diplomacy, international affairs, elections, human rights and good governance. His current research focus is on Afghan and Central Asian transboundary water issues and water diplomacy. Besides English, he is fluent in Dari, Pashto, Russian, Arabic, Urdu and Turkish languages.

Contact: zekria.barizkai@gmail.com

Andrew Kuchins is a widely renowned expert on Russia, Central Asia, and Eurasia and the author or editor of seven books including Russia after the Fall (2003), The Russia Balance Sheet (2009), and Russia after the Global Financial Crisis (2010). He is currently a Senior Fellow at the Center for the National interest and Adjunct Professor at the Johns Hopkins School for Advanced International Studies in Washington D.C. Previously he served as President of the American University of Central Asia as well as senior positions at the Center for Strategic and International Studies, the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, and the John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation. He has also held research and teaching positions at Georgetown University, Stanford University, and the University of California at Berkeley.

Contact: akuchins@cftni.org

Najibullah Sadid is senior researcher on water resources, environment and climate change based in Germany. He has a master degree and a Ph.D on water resource management from the Institute for Modelling Hydraulic and Environmental Systems (IWS), University of Stuttgart. He has worked as a researcher for the University of Stuttgart from 2013 to 2019 and for Federal Waterways Engineering and Research Institute from 2019 to 2023. He is currently advisor for climate change and flood protection to the State Office for Environment in Federal State Rhineland-Palatinate in Germany.

Contact: Najib.sadid@hotmail.com

References

AACS Consulting. 2019. Khush Tepa Irrigation Scheme and Power Generation: Strengthening Watershed and Irrigation Management. Feasibility Study Project.

Adylbekova, Kunduz. 2023. "Water Crisis Looming: Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan's Imperative for the Grand Afghan Canal." Central Asian Bureau for Analytical Reporting, July 22, 2023. <u>https://cabar.asia/en/water-crisis-looming-uzbekistan-and-turkmenistan-s-imperative-for-the-grand-afghan-canal</u>.

Ahmad, Masood, and Mahwash Wasiq. 2004. "Water Resource Development in Northern Afghanistan and Its Implications for Amu Darya Basin." Working Paper 36, World Bank. <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/5f50d36f-ebd0-5869-92ad-a65f8273fe91/content</u>.

Akhal-Teke. 2024. "Туркменистан: Буря в канале воды" [Turkmenistan: Storm in the Water Channel]. EurasiaNet, March 14, 2024. https://russian.eurasianet.org/туркменистан-буря-в-канале-воды.

Annaorazov, Dzhumadurdy. 2024. "Каракумский канал: как воплотилась в жизнь вековая мечта туркмен о 'большой воде''' [The Karakum Canal: How Turkmens' Age-old 'Dream of 'Big Water' Came True]. Infoabad.com, February 25, 2024. <u>https://www.infoabad.com/3506-karakumskii-kanal-kak-voplotilas-v-zhizn-vekovaja-mechta-turkmen-o-bolshoivode-chast-1.html</u>.

Busch, Carolin, Abror Gafurov, Ihtiyor Bobojonov, and Maksud Bekchanov. 2023. "Impact of the Qush-Tepa Canal on the Agricultural Sector in Uzbekistan." Policy Briefing: Uzbekistan no. 5 (June): 11. <u>https://www.german-economic-team.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/GET_UZB_PB_05_2023_en.pdf</u>.

Carter, Ashton B., and William J. Perry. 1999. Preventive Defense: A New Security Strategy for America. Brookings Institution Press.

Dawisha, Karen, and Bruce Parrott. 1997. Conflict, Cleavage, and Change in Central Asia and the Caucasus. Cambridge University Press.

Deputy PM for Economic Affairs. 2022. "The Qosh Tepa Irrigation Canal Project in the North of the Country Has Been Progressing Quickly." Video. November 2, 2022. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_jpv8E8-gJc</u>.

Drusch, M., U. Del Bello, S. Carlier, et al. 2012. "Sentinel-2: ESA's Optical High-Resolution Mission for GMES Operational Services." *Remote Sensing of Environment* 120: 25–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2011.11.026</u>.

Duffy, Seamus. 2023. "What Afghanistan's Qosh Tepa Canal Means for Central Asia." *The Diplomat*, April 19, 2023. https://thediplomat.com/2023/04/what-afghanistans-qosh-tepa-canal-means-for-central-asia/.

Dukhovny, Victor, and Joop de Schutter. 2011. Вода в Центральной Азии: прошлое, настоящее, будущее [Water in Central Asia: Past, Present, Future]. CRC Press.

FAO. 2020. "Capacity development program in Central Asia on Soil salinity mapping and soil fertility restoration." September 8, 2020. <u>https://www.fao.org/global-soil-partnership/resources/highlights/detail/en/c/1306719/</u>.

Gerasimov, I. 1978. Каракумский канал и изменение природной среды в зоне его влияния [The Karakum Canal and Changes in the Natural Environment in the Zone of Its Influence]. Science.

Ghaus, Abdul Samad. 1988. The Fall of Afghanistan: An Insider's Account. University of Nebraska Press.

Government of the Republic of Afghanistan. "First Seven Year Economic and Social Development Plan, 1976." Ministry of Planning.

Grabish, Beatrice. 1999. "Dry Tears of the Aral." UN Chronicle 1. https://www.un.org/en/chronicle/article/dry-tears-aral.

Haag, Isabell, Philip D. Jones, and Cyrus Samimi. 2019. "Central Asia's Changing Climate: How Temperature and Precipitation Have Changed across Time, Space, and Altitude." *Climate* 7, no. 10: 123. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cli7100123</u>.

Hossain, Noman. 2024. "The Revitalization of Northern Afghanistan through the Qosh Tepa Canal Project." Khaama Press News Agency, March 21, 2024. <u>https://www.khaama.com/the-revitalization-of-northern-afghanistan-through-the-qosh-te-pa-canal-project-9875/</u>.

Ibraimov, Bakyt, and Fawad Ali. 2023. "A Lot of Work for Diplomats' in Central Asia as the Taliban Build Huge Canal." Dialogue Earth, May 18, 2023. https://dialogue.earth/en/water/a-lot-of-work-for-diplomats-as-taliban-build-gosh-tepa-canal/.

Kuchins, Andrew C., Thomas M. Sanderson, David A. Gordon, and S. Frederick Starr. 2009. *The Northern Distribution Net-work and the Modern Silk Road*. Center for Strategic and International Studies. <u>https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/legacy_files/files/publication/091217_Kuchins_NorthernDistNet_Web.pdf</u>.

Mahmoodzad, Abdul Basir, Divyesh Varade, Sawahiko Shimada, et al. 2023. "Quantification of Amu River Riverbank Erosion in Balkh Province of Afghanistan During 2004–2020." *Land* 12, no. 10: 10–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/land12101890</u>.

Measho, Simon, Fadong Li, Petri Pellikka, et al. 2022. "Soil Salinity Variations and Associated Implications for Agriculture and Land Resources Development Using Remote Sensing Datasets in Central Asia." *Remote Sensing* 14, no. 10: 2501. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14102501.

Melis, C., and L. Zuliani. 2023. "Impact of the Afghan Crisis on the Environment, Water and Energy in Central Asian Regions Bordering Afghanistan." Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/</u>tajikistan/impact-afghan-crisis-environment-water-and-energy-central-asian-regions-bordering-afghanistan-recommendations-osce-enru.

Nasar, Khudai N. 2023. "Taliban Vow to Finish Disputed Canal at 'Any Cost." Nikkei Asia, December 9, 2023. <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Politics/International-relations/Taliban-vow-to-finish-disputed-canal-at-any-cost</u>.

Niazi, Noorulhuda. 2024. "Supervision and Visit of the Leadership of the National Development Corporation from the Progress of Second Phase of Qosh Tepa Canal." National Development Corporation, March 18, 2024. <u>https://www.ndc.gov.af/en/2024/03/</u>.

Pannier, Bruce. 2022. "Northern Afghanistan and the New Threat to Central Asia." Foreign Policy Research Institute Eurasia Program. <u>https://www.fpri.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/north-afghanistan-and-the-new-threat-to-central-asia.pdf</u>.

President of Uzbekistan. 2023. "Address by the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan Shavkat Mirziyoyev at a Meeting of the Council of Heads of the Founder States of the International Fund for Saving the Aral Sea." September 15, 2023. https://president.uz/en/lists/view/6662.

RFE/RL (Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty). 2022. "Tap Water Switched Off in Turkmen Capital amid Extremely Hot Weather." July 18, 2022. <u>https://www.rferl.org/a/turkmenistan-water-off-heat-wave/31948999.html</u>.

Rivers without Boundaries. 2024. "A New Phase of the Qosh Tepa Canal Construction Sparks Concerns over Central Asia's Water Resources." March 31, 2024. <u>https://www.transrivers.org/2024/3921/</u>.

Rudenshiold, Eric. 2023. "Is It Too Late to Save Central Asia? The COP Crisis Is Already Here." Caspian Policy Center. https://api.caspianpolicy.org/media/ckeditor_media/2023/12/14/is-it-too-late-fopr-central-asia.pdf.

Shih, Gerry. 2023. "Taliban Bringing Water to Afghanistan's Parched Plains via Massive Canal." Washington Post, August 20, 2023. https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/2023/08/20/afghanistan-taliban-canal-amu-darya/.

Shinwari, Nazir. 2024. "Third Round of Qosh Tepa Canal Negotiations to be Held in Tashkent." *TOLOnews*, October 30, 2024. <u>https://tolonews.com/afghanistan-191417</u>.

The Economist. 2023. "The Taliban are Digging an Enormous Canal." February 16, 2023. <u>https://www.economist.com/asia/2023/02/16/the-taliban-are-digging-an-enormous-canal</u>.

Thompson, Tres, Marta Darby, Michelle Hillenbrand, Trevor Kempner, Mansi Kothari, Andrew Lawrence, Ryan Nelson, and Tom Wakefield. 2015. *An Introduction to the Property Law of Afghanistan*. Afghan Legal Education Project, Stanford Law School. <u>https://law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/ALEP-Property-Law-1st-Ed_English.pdf</u>.

TOLOnews. 2022. "Canal Project to Employ 200,000 People." March 30, 2022. March 18, 2024. <u>https://tolonews.com/afghanistan-177337</u>.

TOLOnews. 2024. "مپىتشوق ل ان اك دنتسم" [Qoshtepa Canal Document]. Video, 0:28:38. <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=imhNl0ZUdzI.

Turkmen.news. "100 Million Cubic Meters of Water Leaked into the Sand Due to the Karakum Canal Breakdown." April 24, 2023. <u>https://turkmen.news/iz-za-proryva-karakumskogo-kanala-v-pesok-uteklo-100-millionov-kubometrov-vody/</u>.

UNECE (United Nations Economic Commission for Europe). 2012. *Environmental Performance Review of Turkmenistan*. United Nations. <u>https://unece.org/DAM/env/epr/epr_studies/Turkmenistan.pdf</u>.

UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme), GRID-Arendal, and Zoi Environment Network. 2011. "Environment and Security in the Amu Darya Basin." ENVSEC Initiative and UNEP. <u>https://zoinet.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Amu-Darya-EN-Web.pdf</u>.

UN DESA (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs), Population Division. 2019. *Patterns and Trends in Household Size and Composition: Evidence from a United Nations Dataset*. United Nations. <u>https://www.un.org/en/devel-opment/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/household_size_and_composition_technical_report.pdf</u>.

USAID (United States Agency for International Development). 2018."Feasibility Study for Khush Tepa Irrigation Canal Ceremony Held." Press release. December 18, 2018. <u>https://www.globalwaters.org/sites/default/files/Afghanistant-2018.12.10-Press-Release-feasability-study.pdf</u>.

USAID (United States Agency for International Development), USAID Country Profile. 2018. Property Rights and Resource Governance: Afghanistan. <u>https://www.land-links.org/wp-content/uploads/2010/07/USAID_Land_Tenure_Afghanistan_Profile.pdf</u>.

Waheed, Muhammad, Silvia Redaelli, Wasim Shahid Malik, and Amna Sehar. 2023. "Afghanistan Development Update: Uncertainty after Fleeting Stability." World Bank. <u>https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/210d5f24dc33a3460beff3447f-ceadcf-0310012023/original/Afghanistan-Development-Update-20231003-final.pdf</u>.

Weinthal, Erika. 2002. Water Conflict and Cooperation in Central Asia. MIT Press.

Weinthal, Erika. 2006. State Making and Environmental Cooperation. MIT Press.

Wikipedia. 2010. "Amu Darya" (map). May 22, 2010. https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Amudaryamap.jpg.

World Bank. 2014a. "Assessment Studies for Proposed Rogun Hydropower Project in Tajikistan." September 1, 2014. https://www.worldbank.org/en/region/eca/brief/rogun-assessment-studies.

World Bank. 2014b. "Islamic Republic of Afghanistan: Agricultural Sector Review." <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/ar/245541467973233146/pdf/Afghanistan-Agricultural-sector-review-revitalizing-agriculture-for-econom-ic-growth-job-creation-and-food-security.pdf</u>.

Yaazdani, Zikrullah. 2023. "Work on Second Phase of Qosh Tepa Canal Starts." TOLOnews, October 11, 2023. <u>https://tolonews.com/afghanistan-185493</u>.

Yusupov, U., G. Malekhonkov, I. Grishin, et al. 1951. Великие стройки Сталинской эпохи [Great Construction Sites of the Stalin Era]. Gospolitizdat.



1025 Connecticut Avenue, NW, Suite 709, Washington, DC 20036 202-887-1000 | info@cftni.org | www.cftni.org